IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE	Electronically Filed of NEV&P47 2013 09:52 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman
IOCEDI UENDEDCON	Clerk of Supreme Court

JOSEPH HENDERSON,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Docket No. 62629

Appeal from an Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Abbi Silver, District Judge District Court No. C-05-212968-1

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JULIAN GREGORY, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 11978 julian@grassodefense.com **LAW OFFICE OF GABRIEL L. GRASSO, P.C.** 9525 Hillwood Drive, Suite #190 Las Vegas, NV 89134 Tel. (702) 868-8866 Fax. (702) 868-5778 Attorneys for Joseph Henderson

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal a Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order filed on November 21, 2012, in the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada, by the Honorable Abbi Silver. This Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to NRS 34.575(1) and NRAP 22, which provide that the Nevada Supreme Court may hear appeals of the district court's denial of a petition for a writ of habeas corpus.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Whether the district court erred in denying Mr. Henderson excess funds for a DNA expert.
- II. Whether the district court erred when it revealed to a testifying witness components of another witness's testimony.
- III. Whether the district court erred in denying Mr. Henderson's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel based on counsels' failures to retest the DNA and to preserve the record at trial.
- IV. Whether the district court erred in denying Mr. Henderson's *Brady v. Maryland* claim as procedurally barred.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Eric Bernzweig and his fiancée, Julie Kim, were in bed in the early morning hours of September 3, 2004, when their doorbell rang. (1 Appellant's Appendix [AA] 3.) Mr. Bernzweig went downstairs to answer the door. (*Id.*) The man at the door told Mr. Bernzweig that he had thrown his keys into Mr. Bernzweig's backyard. (*Id.*) The masked assailants then entered the residence with guns equipped with laser sights. (*Id.*) Upon entry, the men made repeated demands for access to a safe. (*Id.*) Two of the assailants took Mr. Bernzweig upstairs while the third man, who wore a mask, bound Ms. Kim. (*Id.*) This man then began touching Ms. Kim's breasts and buttocks. (*Id.* at 3-4.)

The masked assailant digitally penetrated Ms. Kim and eventually placed his penis in her vagina. (*Id.* at 4.) The assailant then took Ms. Kim upstairs where he again sexually assaulted her. (*Id.*) After all of the assailants left, Ms. Kim was able to free herself and Mr. Bernzweig and they called 911. (*Id.*)

Ms. Kim went to University Medical Center where a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE) collected DNA samples of an unknown subject from Ms. Kim's vagina, breast, and bed sheet. (*Id.*) Investigators uploaded that DNA sample into the national Combined DNA Index System (CODIS) for comparison. (*Id.*) A CODIS "hit" came back from California and the DNA was linked to Appellant Joseph Henderson. (*Id.*) Based on these findings, the State charged Mr. Henderson with fourteen criminal counts. (*Id.* at 8-13.)

///

///

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Henderson was charged by way of Information with conspiracy to commit burglary, burglary while in possession of a firearm, conspiracy to commit first degree kidnapping, first degree kidnapping with use of a dead-ly weapon, conspiracy to commit sexual assault, three counts of sexual assault with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to commit robbery, two counts of robbery with use of a deadly weapon, open or gross lewdness, and battery with use of a deadly weapon resulting in substantial bodily harm. (*Id.*) This case went to trial before the Honorable Donald Mosley from June 23, 2008, to June 27, 2008. (2 AA 169-70.) Following trial, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on all counts, and Mr. Henderson was sentenced as follows:

(1) conspiracy to commit burglary, 12 months;

(2) burglary with use of a deadly weapon, 62 to 156 months, to run concurrent to count 1;

(3) conspiracy to commit first degree kidnapping, 24 to 60 months, to run consecutive to count 2;

(4) first degree kidnapping with use of a deadly weapon, life with the possibility of parole after 60 months a with consecutive sentence of life with the possibility of parole after 60 months, to run consecutive to count 3;

///

(5) first degree kidnapping with use of a deadly weapon, , life with the possibility of parole after 60 months a with consecutive sentence of life with the possibility of parole after 60 months, to run consecutive to count 4;

(6) conspiracy to commit sexual assault, 24 to 60 months, consecutive to count 5;

(7) sexual assault with use of a deadly weapon, life with the possibility of parole after 120 months a with consecutive sentence of life with the possibility of parole after 120 months, to run consecutive to count 6;

(8) sexual assault with use of a deadly weapon, life with the possibility of parole after 120 months a with consecutive sentence of life with the possibility of parole after 120 months, to run consecutive to count 7;

(9) sexual assault with use of a deadly weapon, life with the possibility of parole after 120 months a with consecutive sentence of life with the possibility of parole after 120 months, to run consecutive to count 8;

(10) conspiracy to commit robbery, 24 to 60 months, to run consecutive to count 9;

(11) robbery with use of a deadly weapon, 72 to 180 months with a consecutive 72 to 180 months, to run concurrent to count 10;

(12) robbery with use of a deadly weapon, 72 to 180 months plus a consecutive 72 to 180 months, to run consecutive to count 11;

(13) open and gross lewdness, 12 months, to run concurrent to count 12; and

(14) battery with use of a deadly weapon resulting in substantial bodily harm, 62 to 156 months, to run consecutive to count 13.

(1 AA 36-39, 42-47.)

Mr. Henderson appealed his conviction, and filed his Opening Brief

on April 1, 2009. (Id. at 48.) Mr. Henderson presented the following is-

sues:

- I. Joseph Henderson was prejudiced by the government's consumption of the DNA material. As a result, he could not retest the DNA material to show the inadequacy of the government's conclusions concerning DNA evidence.
- II. After denying the defense motion to dismiss, the court failed to afford Mr. Henderson alternative relief sought by the defense and thereby violated his right to due process.
- III. Mr. Henderson's right to due process was violated when the court denied defense [sic] motion for a mistrial after the testimony of Kim Murga.
- IV. Mr. Henderson was denied a fair trial when the jury pool was tainted by the fact that the district court denied the defense request not to voice peremptory challenges in open court.

(Id.) This Court filed its Order of Affirmance on February 3, 2010, (id. at

102-04), and remittitur issued on March 11, 2010, (*id.* at 105-06).

Mr. Henderson filed his proper person petition on January 11, 2011,

(2 AA 1), and Stephanie Kice was appointed to represent Mr. Henderson on

March 17, 2011, (id. at 35-36). Mr. Henderson filed his Amended Petition

on August 26, 2011. (*Id.* at 37.) The district court conducted an evidentiary hearing on October 22, 2012, after which it denied Mr. Henderson's petition. (*Id.* at 68, 109.) The State prepared, and the court adopted, a Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order filed on November 21, 2012. (*Id.* at 130.) Mr. Henderson filed his proper person Notice of Appeal on February 12, 2012, (*id.* at 146), and this Court remanded this case for the appointment of counsel, (*id.* at 157). The undersigned counsel was appointed to represent Mr. Henderson on March 14, 2013. (*Id.* at 158-59.) This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court appointed counsel to represent Mr. Henderson in his petition for post-conviction relief, and then denied habeas counsel the funds to adequately investigate his underlying claims, constituting an abuse of discretion. The district court permitted habeas counsel to invoke the "exclusionary rule" under NRS 50.155, and then violated its own order by disclosing to a testifying witness what the prior witness had said on the stand, creating a presumption of prejudice. The district court then categorically denied Mr. Henderson's claims. Rather than giving Mr. Henderson a full and fair opportunity to seek post-conviction relief, the district court instead persisted with the illusion of legitimacy without ever intending to genuinely weigh the claims presented. The district court's denial of Mr. Henderson's petition should be reversed and this case remanded with instructions to issue a writ of habeas corpus, or in the alternative, remanded with instructions to appoint an expert and hold an evidentiary hearing.

ARGUMENT ON THE ISSUES

I. <u>The District Court Erred in Denying Mr. Henderson Ex-</u> cess Funds for a DNA Expert.

Following the appointment of counsel in the district court for the purposes of amending Mr. Henderson's proper person petition, habeas counsel requested that the district court authorize the expenditure of funds for a DNA expert to assess the evidence and lend weight to Mr. Henderson's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. (2 AA 66-67); *see also infra* section III. The district court denied habeas counsel's request, noting that Mr. Henderson had already been given the assistance of a DNA expert at trial. (2 AA 67.) That denial served to deprive Mr. Henderson of his rights to effective assistance of counsel and due process.

A. Standard of Review

The district court has discretion whether to appoint counsel in postconviction petitions, and accordingly, has the discretion whether to approve excess funds for investigatory or other expert assistance. *Kirksey v. State*, /// 112 Nev. 980, 1003, 923 P.2d 1102, 1116-17 (1996). Accordingly, a district court's decision in that regard is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Id.*

B. Analysis

Despite the fact that the district court saw enough merit to Mr. Henderson's petition to appoint counsel to supplement that petition, the district court denied Mr. Henderson's counsel the opportunity to meaningfully do so. Mr. Henderson did raise the issue of trial counsels' failure to seek retesting of the DNA evidence in his proper person petition. (2 AA 21.)

Although there is no general constitutional right to appeal or to collateral review, when a State so provides one, it must still act in accordance with due process. *See Evitts v. Lucey*, 469 U.S. 387, 400-01 (1985). Although Mr. Henderson is indigent, he is still entitled to the assistance of experts. *See Ake v. Oklahoma*, 470 U.S. 68, 84 (1985). The district court, and now this Court, saw fit to appoint counsel to represent Mr. Henderson; the denial of habeas counsel's request for expert assistance rendered Mr. Henderson's amended petition and subsequent evidentiary hearing an exercise in futility and amounted to an abuse of the district court's discretion, as well as a violation of Mr. Henderson's right to the effective assistance of counsel and to due process. *See* U.S. Const. amends. V, VI.

///

8

C. Conclusion

The State has provided Mr. Henderson with the right to collateral review of his conviction. For the district court to appoint counsel, then deny counsel the funds necessary to fully investigate Mr. Henderson's claims of constitutional error, amounts to an abuse of discretion. For that reason, this Court should reverse the decision of the lower court, or in the alternative, remand this case for the appointment of a DNA expert and evidentiary hearing.

II. <u>The District Court Erred When it Revealed to a Testifying</u> <u>Witness Components of Another Witness's Testimony,</u> <u>Creating a Presumption of Prejudice and Necessitating</u> <u>Reversal.</u>

At the beginning of the evidentiary hearing, below, Mr. Henderson's counsel invoked the "exclusionary rule." (2 AA 68.) The exclusionary rule is a provision of Nevada law that provides for the exclusion and sequestration of witnesses during hearings and trials either at the request of a party or *sua sponte*. NRS 50.155. There is an analogue to NRS 50.155 in Federal Rule of Evidence 615. As Mr. Henderson's counsel called Norm Reed to testify first, the district court excused Violet Radosta from the courtroom. (2 AA 68.) When Ms. Radosta was then called to testify, and her testimony contradicted that of Mr. Reed, the district court informed Ms. Radosta of that fact and gave her the opportunity to revise her testimony. (*Id.* at 91.)

Doing so constituted error in that it violated Nevada law and tainted a pending witness's testimony.

A. Standard of Review