IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JOSEPH HENDERSON,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Feb 14 2014 02:37 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 62629

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order filed November 21, 2012 Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JULIAN GREGORY, ESQ. Nevada Bar #011978 Law Office if Gabriel L. Grasso, P.C. 9525 Hillwood Drive, Suite #190 Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 (702) 868-8866

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

In considering whether trial counsel was effective, the court must determine whether counsel made a "sufficient inquiry into the information . . . pertinent to his client's case." <u>Doleman v State</u>, 112 Nev. 843, 846, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996), citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690–691, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. Once this decision is made, the court will consider whether counsel made "a reasonable strategy decision on how to proceed with his client's case." <u>Doleman</u>, 112 Nev. at 846, 921 P.2d at 280, citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690–691, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. Counsel's strategy decision is a "tactical" decision and will be "virtually unchallengeable absent extraordinary circumstances." <u>Doleman</u>, 112 Nev. at 846, 921 P.2d at 280; <u>see also Howard v. State</u>, 106 Nev. 713, 722, 800 P.2d 175, 180 (1990); <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 691, 104 S.Ct. at 2066.

This analysis does not indicate that the court should "second guess reasoned choices between trial tactics, nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the possibilities are of success." <u>Donovan</u>, 94 Nev. at 675, 584 P.2d at 711 (citing Cooper, 551 F.2d at 1166). In essence, the court must "judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. However, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make futile objections, file futile motions, or for failing to make futile arguments. <u>Ennis</u> v. State, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006).

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. <u>McNelton v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064-66). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." <u>Id</u>. Furthermore, claims asserted in a petition for post-conviction relief must be supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the petitioner to relief. <u>Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225

(1984). "Bare" and "naked" allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. <u>Id</u>.

C. <u>The district court did not err in denying Defendant's Petition and</u> <u>Supplemental Petition</u>

1. The district court did not err in finding that counsels' actions and investigation of the DNA evidence were reasonable and provided effective assistance of counsel

Defendant raises various claims in this section, all of which have no merit. <u>See</u> AOB, pgs. 23-25. Defendant's claims appear to be the following based on his heading and arguments: (1) trial counsel's failure to retest DNA was ineffective assistance of counsel, (2) trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when they failed to hire or secure an expert to review the LVMPD report or advise on DNA, and (3) trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when they failed to hire an expert to review the CODIS hit from California and consult on a strategy to challenge it. <u>Id</u>. Defendant fails to reference any of the court's findings, argue how the court allegedly erred, or even cite to the record to show where these claims were raised; thus his argument is largely incoherent. NRAP 28(e)(1).

The district court made the following findings that are relevant to Defendant's claims on appeal:

15. Defendant claims his attorney was ineffective for failing to "call into question and have tested the evidence of California authorities" lab work matching petitioner to Nevada's profile." Pet. at 5q. Defendant was identified as a suspect by witness Kathy Gunther, who matched the unknown DNA profile to Defendant with the assistance of outside agencies. 6/26/08 TT p.109. Defendant claims that his attorney should have challenged the DNA profile generated by the outside agency which identified him as the unknown perpetrator. However, such an action by trial counsel would have been useless since Ms. Gunther matched the DNA profile of the unknown perpetrator to a buccal swab obtained from Defendant in a confirmatory match. Id. As such, Defendant does not demonstrate that counsel was ineffective or that he was prejudiced, since counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make futile objections or motions.

•••

17. In the Supplemental Petition, Defendant claims his attorney was ineffective for failing to retain his own DNA expert to either retest or make an independent evaluation of the DNA report. Supp. Pet. at 8-9. The mere failure to retain an expert does not render counsel per se ineffective. Further, Defendant's bare allegations that mistakes "may have been made" during testing are insufficient to demonstrate prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>.

18. Mr. Norm Reed's and Ms. Violet Radosta's testimony at the evidentiary hearing was credible.

19. Defendant waived his attorney client privilege at the evidentiary hearing. 10-22-2012 Evidentiary Hearing at 12.

••

20. [...] Defendant's allegation that defense counsel failed to consult with a DNA expert is belied by the record. Mr. Reed and Ms. Radosta consulted with a DNA expert, Norah Rudin, one of the nation's renowned DNA experts. 10-22-2012 Evidentiary Hearing at 26-27, 53, 128. Ms. Rudin reviewed the DNA evidence – the entire forensic file – including the bed sheet, the vaginal swabs, the breast swabs, and the California DNA results. <u>Id.</u> Reviewing the entire file allows her to make her own interpretation of it. <u>Id.</u> at 29. Mr. Reed consulted with Ms. Rudin regarding her findings. <u>Id.</u> at 27.

•••

21. Defense counsel made the strategic decision not to put Ms. Rudin

on the stand because, although she disagreed with some points of interpretation, she agreed with the overall results reached by Metro, which were that Defendant's DNA was present at the scene. 10-22-2012 Evidentiary Hearing at 30-31.

22. There was enough DNA to retest, but defense counsel made the strategic choice not to do so because they would have been obligated to turn the results over to the State. 10-22-2012 Evidentiary Hearing at 40, 101-104, 106, 108. Ms. Rudin advised against having the DNA retested. Id. at 39-40. [...] Bringing in the CODIS or California match would also raise questions about why Defendant's DNA was on file with California and lead to the inference that he was a felon. 10-22-2012 Evidentiary Hearing at 52.

23. Based on the number of independent labs confirming Defendant's DNA at the scene, Mr. Reed and Ms. Radosta made the reasonable strategic decision to proceed only with Metro's lab results, so they could try to cross-examine the DNA expert regarding testing procedures such that it may raise doubt to the jury that this Defendant was the source of the DNA. 10-22-2012 Evidentiary Hearing at 88-89. To advance this trial tactic, Mr. Reed and Ms. Radosta held mock trials and practiced their cross-examination with the help of Norah Rudin. Ms. Rudin prepared a list of potential cross-examination questions for counsels. 10-22-2012 Evidentiary Hearing at 31.

32. Defendant received effective assistance of counsel.

2 AA 130-140; see also 2 AA 140-144 (Conclusions of Law).

Contrary to Defendant's vague assertions, the record and the evidence presented at the Evidentiary Hearing support the district court's rulings. The district court's findings were supported by substantial evidence and it did not err in concluding that Defendant did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel on the claims in his Petition and Supplemental Petition raised on appeal here. <u>Evans</u>, 117 Nev. at 622, 28 P.2d at 508; <u>Kirksey</u>, 112 Nev. at 987, 923 P.2d at 1107; <u>Lader</u>,

121 Nev. at 686, 120 P.3d at 1166; Lara, 120 Nev. at 179, 87 P.3d at 530; Riley, 110 Nev. at 647, 878 P.2d at 278. First, the evidence demonstrates that trial counsel did investigate the DNA and provided effective assistance by securing and consulting with one of the nation's leading experts in the field. 2 AA 81. Mr. Reed testified that his initial step is always to "have someone look at the DNA." 2 AA 74. The defense hired and consulted with an expert named Norah Rudin; in fact Ms. Radosta initially hired Ms. Rudin even prior to Mr. Reed's involvement. 2 AA 74, 90. Mr. Reed had worked with Ms. Rudin several times and described her as a very good expert. 2 AA 74. The defense subpoenaed all of the forensic lab's records from LVMPD. Id. They also investigated the CODIS hit from California. Id. The defense was able to have the forensic lab at LVMPD send all of the forensic information directly to their expert, rather than just sending her a copy of the reports. 2 AA 75. This allowed Ms. Rudin to conduct her own analysis; absent physical testing she was able to recreate all of the testing and analysis done by the crime lab and do her own interpretations. Id. Once Ms. Rudin received all of the materials she reviewed the forensic file and consulted with the defense about their approach to the DNA, including whether they should seek retesting. 2 AA 74. The defense also sought to consult their expert during trial when the State offered a rebuttal witness following their strong crossexamination, the supervisor who had peer-reviewed the findings of the initial forensic analysts. 2 AA 73. The district court denied this request. <u>Id</u>.

Second, the evidence showed that the decisions not to seek retesting and not to have their expert testify were well-reasoned strategic decisions. Ms. Rudin concluded that she agreed with the ultimate conclusions reached by the LVMPD crime lab. 2 AA 75. Essentially, while she may have taken a couple of different turns in her analysis she would have reached the same conclusion. Id. Ms. Rudin informed the defense that their best avenue of attack on the DNA was to crossexamine on the subjective areas of DNA analysis, particularly alleles and peaks which could indicate the existence of a mixture or that the source might be someone else. Id. The defense worked with Ms. Rudin to develop a strong crossexamination to challenge the method of interpretation and the strength of the DNA However, Mr. Reed testified that they determined that the conclusions. Id. defense could not have Ms. Rudin testify as a witness because "she would have to say, while I disagree with some of the interpretation, I agree with the overall results." Id.

Mr. Reed also testified regarding the decision not to retest the DNA samples and Ms. Rudin's advice on the matter. 2 AA 77. Ms. Radosta had filed the motion even before Mr. Reed became involved in the case. <u>Id</u>. However, after Ms. Rudin had the opportunity to review the DNA analysis conducted by LVMPD she advised against retesting because she agreed with the results. <u>Id</u>. Therefore, the defense then "did everything [they] could to make sure that somehow people forgot about that motion because there was no basis to retest because [their] expert said don't retest." <u>Id</u>. The prosecution already had a single-source DNA match to Defendant from the bed sheets, and single-source DNA matches from the breast and vaginal swabs after separating out the female DNA of the victim from the unknown male DNA that was found to match Defendant. 2 AA 81-82. Thus, the defense specifically wanted to avoid having to turn over results of a retest, likely another positive match to Defendant, to the State as required. 2 AA 77.

Third, the evidence showed that trial counsel did hire an expert, investigate, and consult on a strategy for the CODIS match from California. Thus, their decisions in that regard were also well-reasoned strategic decisions. Ms. Rudin was also consulted regarding the initial CODIS hit out of California which initially identified Defendant as a possible suspect. 2 AA 76, 80. While it was strange that the CODIS hit alerted in California rather than Nevada, where Defendant's DNA should have been on file from a prior conviction, it would only have harmed the defense to bring that information out at trial. 2 AA 76. After consultation with Ms. Rudin, the defense approached the prosecution and obtained the prosecutor's agreement that the State would eliminate the discussion of the California CODIS hit and focus on only the manual comparison in Nevada. <u>Id</u>. By doing so the

defense avoided the jury learning (1) that Defendant was an ex-felon and also (2) that two independent labs confirmed a DNA match placing Defendant at the crime and demonstrating his sexual assault of J.K. 2 AA 76, 80. This allowed the defense to limit the number of DNA matches they had to attack to one, the LVMPD lab's work, for which they developed the cross-examination strategy with their expert. Id. Ms. Rudin's conclusion was that it did not matter why the CODIS result came from California rather than Nevada because the California match, like the LVMPD results, was accurate. 2 AA 82-83. It was possible that even though Nevada had previously collected Defendant's DNA, it might not have been entered into the system yet. Id. Additionally, Mr. Reed did not remember any chain of custody issues with the DNA, specifically with the CODIS hit in California, and definitely would have raised a challenge if any had existed. 2 AA 80. In all of his prior cases, he has never been able to challenge a search warrant based on a CODIS hit. 2 AA 85. Mr. Reed testified that there was nothing further the defense could have requested from CODIS. 2 AA 82. He clarified that the CODIS, because it is merely a probable cause determination and not intended to be a conclusive determination for a court of law, does not accept requests to recheck or retest their matching of DNA profiles entered in the system. 2 AA 82. Rather, they notify the lab whose input matched and that lab is responsible for obtaining an

independent sample and conducting an independent manual comparison. 2 AA 76, 80.

Finally, Defendant failed to show prejudice. As set forth above, the evidence against Defendant was strong. Additionally, Defendant made admissions to his attorneys prior to trial about being present at the crime. 2 AA 70. Ms. Radosta confirmed that Defendant told them two different versions of his defense at different points in the case. 2 AA 88. On the morning of trial, Defendant told his attorneys that he knew the victim and alleged that the sex was consensual on the night of the crime as payment for drugs. 2 AA 98-99. Mr. Reed testified that, in his opinion, the Defendant's chances of winning this case were almost nonexistent and negotiating the matter would have been in his best interest yet Defendant he rejected the plea offered to him on the eve of trial. 2 AA 78-79.

Therefore, the district court's findings were supported by substantial evidence and not clearly erroneous; the district court did not err in finding that Defendant did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel from trial counsel as it related to the investigation of DNA and the retention of a DNA expert.

2. The district court did not err in finding that counsel was not ineffective in failing to persuade the district court to record bench conferences Again, Defendant fails to even mention the district court's findings or argue how such findings were allegedly erroneous. The district court found as follows on this issue:

29. In the Supplemental Petition, Defendant claims that trial counsel failed to make an adequate record by recording bench conferences. Supp. Pet. at 11. Defendant's general allegations of unrecorded bench conferences fail to explain which judicial actions should have been preserved, how such actions did or did not have merit, or a reasonable probability that their preservation would have alter the outcome of his trial or appeal. Defendant's allegations are too vague to warrant relief per <u>Hargrove</u> and NRS 34.735(6). Further, Mr. Reed testified at the evidentiary hearing that he was not prevented in any way from making a record on anything that was said at a bench conference. 10-22-2012 Evidentiary Hearing at 66. The trial judge always gave defense counsel the opportunity to put material off-record discussions on the record at a later time. Id. Mr. Reed testified that nothing in the unrecorded bench conferences would have changed the outcome of the trial. Id. at 72.

2 AA 139. Contrary to Defendant's vague assertions, the record and the evidence presented at the Evidentiary Hearing support the district court's ruling. The district court's findings were not clearly erroneous and were supported by substantial evidence; thus it did not err in concluding that Defendant did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel on the claims raised regarding bench conferences. <u>Evans</u>, 117 Nev. at 622, 28 P.2d at 508; <u>Kirksey</u>, 112 Nev. at 987, 923 P.2d at 1107; <u>Lader</u>, 121 Nev. at 686, 120 P.3d at 1166; <u>Lara</u>, 120 Nev. at 179, 87 P.3d at 530; Riley, 110 Nev. at 647, 878 P.2d at 278.

The claims were vague and insufficient to warrant relief. 2 AA 47. The testimony at the Evidentiary Hearing also demonstrated that Defendant suffered no prejudice. Mr. Reed was very clear that he was able to make a full record of any issues raised in bench conferences, both in this case and any case he had in front of Judge Mosley. 2 AA 84-85. Specifically, Mr. Reed testified that:

I don't know how many trials you've done in front of Judge Mosley, but there are a lot of conferences with Judge Mosley that might not be on the record initially. But everything I thought was material in every trial I've ever done with, with Judge Mosley since like 1990 I think was my first trial in there, he'll go back and put it on the record or give you an opportunity to put it on the record.

. . .

He always gave me an opportunity to make a record. I've never remembered judge Mosley saying you can't you know, make a record about an issue, even if he disagreed with me.

2 AA 84. Mr. Reed further testified that as an attorney who handles many death penalty cases, where Supreme Court Rule 250 requires recorded bench conferences, he understands the value of recording them but felt that Judge Mosley's approach properly preserved the record. 2 AA 85. Furthermore, this Court has held that even a defendant in a capital case does not have an absolute right to have the proceedings transcribed and that SCR 250(5)(a) allows parties to have discussions without being recorded so long as they later make a record of the unreported proceedings. <u>Archanian v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1019, 1032-35, 145 P.3d 1008, 1018-20 (2006). This Court recently extended the approach for capital cases to non-capital cases in <u>Preciado v. State</u>, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 6, _____ (February 13,

2014). In <u>Preciado</u>, this Court specifically stated that bench conferences could be memorialized either through contemporaneous recording "*or by allowing the attorneys to make a record afterward*." <u>Id</u>. (emphasis added).

As demonstrated above, a record was appropriately made of all issues discussed in any unrecorded bench conference. Therefore, counsel acted reasonably and provided effective assistance of counsel. Therefore, the district court's findings were supported by substantial evidence and not clearly erroneous; it did not err in finding that Defendant did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel from trial counsel as it related to the trial court's decision to not record bench conferences.

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT DEFENDANT'S <u>BRADY</u> CLAIM RAISED OUTSIDE THE CONTEXT OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WAS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

A. <u>Standard of Review</u>

Petitions for Writs of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) "[present] mixed question of law and fact, subject to independent [*de novo*] review." <u>Evans</u>, 117 Nev. at 622, 28 P.2d at 508; <u>Kirksey</u>, 112 Nev. at 987, 923 P.2d at 1107; <u>Lader</u>, 121 Nev. at 686, 120 P.3d at 1166.

"However, the district court's purely factual findings regarding a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel are entitled to deference on subsequent review by this court." <u>Lara</u>, 120 Nev. at 179, 87 P.3d at 530; <u>Riley</u>, 110 Nev. at 647, 878

P.2d at 278 (a district court's factual findings will be given deference by this court on appeal, unless they are clearly wrong and not supported by substantial evidence).

B. <u>The district court did not err in denying Ground Two of Defendant's</u> <u>Supplemental Petition</u>

The district court did not err in finding that Ground Two of Defendant's Supplemental Petition was waived per NRS 34.810 because it was not raised on direct appeal. Defendant cites "Order 5" for the location of the denial; so far as the State can deduce Defendant is referring to page "2 AA 134" in the record on appeal. <u>See NRAP 28(e)(1); see also AOB, pg. 27; 2 AA 134</u>.

In Defendant's Supplemental Petition, Ground Two, Defendant raised a claim of an alleged violation under <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963), <u>Kyles v. Whitley</u>, 514 U.S. 419, 115 S. Ct. 1555 (1995), and <u>Jimenez v.</u> <u>State</u>, 112 Nev. 610, 618, 918 P.2d 687, 692 (1996). The claim alleged that there was nothing in the file regarding the DNA sample in the CODIS database and no indication that the state investigated it. 2 AA 49. Defendant then argued that do to the lack of information, "Mr. Henderson believes and therefore alleges that the State of Nevada has in its possession information[,]" and that "[t]he State never turned over this evidence." <u>Id</u>. This claim was largely incoherent and failed to identify what alleged <u>Brady</u> evidence the State might be in possession of, although at the same time arguing that the State and Defendant's file are void of such

information. Id. In contrast, the claim raised on direct appeal was a subpart of Defendant's argument that the district court erred in denying Defendant's motion for a mistrial. 1 AA 60-62. In that sub-part, the Defendant argued on direct appeal that a Brady violation occurred because the Defendant did not receive a rebuttal witness' (supervisor at the LVMPD crime lab who conducted a peer review of the other testing) notes prior to trial and was not given a recess to review those notes. 1 AA 60-62, 84-86, 103. The Nevada Supreme Court later held that the district court had not abused its discretion in denying the motion and that the State was not required to disclosure such notes because they were merely a "personal summary of official reports already provided to the defense." 1 AA 103. Therefore, the claim raised on direct appeal and the claim raised in Ground Two of Defendant's Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) have nothing to do with each other beyond containing an alleged Brady violations relating to DNA; the LVMPD analysis to which the rebuttal witness testified would have involved the comparison of DNA from Defendant's buccal swab to the DNA recovered from the victim, thus not involving the California CODIS hit. 1 RA 165, 167, 184, 210-215. Defendant's argument that the claims "dovetail" therefore the issue was raised on direct appeal and "thus properly raised and improperly barred as untimely," is illogical. See AOB, pgs. 28-29. Defendant argues first that the district court erred in finding the claim procedurally barred for a failure to raise it

on direct appeal, and then argues that it was "improperly barred as untimely." <u>See</u> AOB, pgs. 27, 29. For the sake of clarity, the district court's ruling was actually:

In Ground 2 of the Supplemental Petition, defendant alleges that the State committed a violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u> 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963). Defendant did not raise these claims on direct appeal and, as such, they are waived per NRS 34.810.

2 AA 134. The district court properly concluded that the claim was waived per NRS 34.810 because Defendant failed to raise it on appeal. Id.

Regardless, even if the claims are considered to be the same, the district court's finding that the claim in Ground Two of the Supplemental Petition was waived per NRS 34.810 is not reversible error. Where the district court reaches the right result, even based on errant reasoning, this Court will affirm the order on appeal. <u>Wyatt v. State</u>, 86 Nev. 294, 298, 468 P.2d 328, 341 (1970); <u>see also Bellon v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 436, 443-444, 117 P.3d 176, 180 (2005).

Here, if this Court finds the district court erred and that the claim from Ground Two was the same raised on direct appeal, then this Court's ruling on direct appeal that the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial and that the State was not required to disclose the rebuttal expert's notes would be preclude any review under the law of the case doctrine because this Court already found that a <u>Brady</u> violation did not occur. <u>Pellegrini v.</u> <u>State</u>, 117 Nev. 860, 34 P.3d 519 (2001); <u>see McNelton v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 396, 990

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